
(a Delaware limited liability company) 

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (1)



Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (2)



GENERALLY
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BL Restaurant Franchises LLC v. 510 Park, Inc. et al.

BL Restaurant Franchises v. Fortney 
Hospitality Group et al.
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Insurance
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(Franchise Agreement, 
Section 4.1)

(Development Agreement, Section 4(d))

(Franchise Agreement, 
Section 4.1)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 6.2)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 12.3.1)
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(Franchise Agreement, Section 12.4). 
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(Franchise Agreement, Section 11):

.

 (Franchise Agreement, Section 
12.3)
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 (Franchise Agreement, Section 12.3)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 6)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 8)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 1.3.2)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5.4)
(Franchise Agreement, Section 6.6)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 7)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 6.7). 
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(Franchise Agreement, Section 6.7)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 4.1)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 4.1)
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(Franchise Agreement, Section 4.5)

(Development Agreement, Section 4)
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Bar Louie

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (36)



Bar Louie

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5.4)

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5.3) 

(Franchise Agreement, Section 5.4)

(Franchise 
Agreement, Section 5.2)
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Introduction

We own a format and system in the United States relating to the establishment and operation of “Bar 
Louie” restaurants providing a distinctive menu of handcrafted martinis, cocktails, and made from 
scratch food items, as well as related approved merchandise (each a “Restaurant” or a “Bar Louie 
Restaurant”).

Among the distinguishing characteristics of a Bar Louie Restaurant are that it operates under our “Bar 
Louie” System. Our System includes (among other things): handcrafted martinis and cocktails, 
burgers, flatbreads, salads, sandwiches, desserts and other related products (“Products”); 
confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets; distinctive images, designs, business 
formats, training methods, procedures, and specifications; distinctive exterior and interior design, 
decor, color scheme, and furnishings; uniform standards, specifications, and procedures for 
operations; brand presentation to consumers (including music playlists), procedures for management; 
software; training and assistance; and advertising and promotional programs (together, the “System”).  

We identify the System by means of our Proprietary Marks. Our proprietary marks include certain trade 
names (for example, the mark “BAR LOUIE” and logo), service marks, trademarks, logos, emblems, 
and indicia of origin, as well as other trade names, service marks, and trademarks that we may 
periodically specify in writing for use in connection with the System (all of these are referred to as our 
“Proprietary Marks”). We continue to develop, use, and control the use of our Proprietary Marks in 
order to identify for the public the source of Products and Services marketed under those marks and 
under the System, and to represent the System’s high standards of quality, appearance, and service. 

We are in the business of developing programming and awarding franchise rights to third party 
franchisees, such as you. You will be in the business of operating a Bar Louie Restaurant, using the 
same brand and Proprietary Marks as other independent businesses that operate other Bar Louie 
Restaurants under the System. We will not operate your Bar Louie Restaurant for you, although we 
have (and will continue) to set standards for Bar Louie Restaurants that you will have chosen to adopt 
as yours by signing this Agreement and by your day-to-day management of your Bar Louie Restaurant 
to our brand standards. 

You have asked to enter into the business of operating a Bar Louie Restaurant under our System and 
wish to obtain a franchise from us for that purpose, as well as to receive the training and other 
assistance we provide as described in this Agreement. You also understand and acknowledge the 
importance of our high standards of quality, cleanliness, appearance, and service and the necessity 
of operating the business franchised under this Agreement in conformity with our standards and 
specifications. 
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In recognition of all of the details noted above, the parties have chosen to enter into this Agreement, 
taking into account all of the promises and commitments that they are each making to one another in 
this contract, and for other good and valuable consideration (the sufficiency and receipt of which they 
hereby acknowledge) and they agree as follows: 

Rights and Obligations

Accepted Location
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Protected Territory

Our Reserved Rights
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Limits on Where You May Operate
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Term

Renewal
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Training

Standard Layout and Equipping of a Bar Louie Restaurant
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Opening and Additional Assistance

Brand Manual

Marketing Materials

Brand Funds

Inspection Before Opening

Periodic Assistance

Services Performed

Our Decision-Making

Confirmation of Performance
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Initial Franchise Fee

Royalty Fee and Sales Reports

Due Date
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No Subordination

Late Payment
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Other Funds Due

Index

Opening Deadline. 

Site for the Restaurant

Our Review and Your Responsibilities
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Lease Review. 

Preparing the Site. 

Construction or Renovation
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Pre-Opening

Reporting Development Costs

Opening Extension Fee.
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Managing Owner and Management

Initial Management Training
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Additional Obligations and Terms Regarding Training
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Additional On-Site Training

Conventions and Meetings

The requirements of this Section 7 apply to Proprietary Items (Section 7.2), Restaurant 
Equipment and Supply Items and Retail Products that you must purchase or otherwise source 
from approved suppliers (Section 7.1), and Restaurant Equipment and Supply Items and 
Retail Products that you must otherwise purchase or source in accordance with our standards 
and specifications (Section 7.3). 

Products

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (81)



Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (82)



Proprietary Items

Specifications. 

Use of the Marks

Manufacturing

Importance of Following Standards
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Opening

Staffing
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Operation According to Our Standards.
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Use of the Premises. 

Hours and Days of Operation. 

Health Standards and Operating Codes

Your Franchised Business:

Franchised Business Condition, Maintenance. 
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Remodeling

Use of the Marks

If You Are an Entity:

Corporation
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Partnership/LLP

LLC

Trust

Guarantees

Quality-Control and Customer Survey Programs. 

Prices
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Environmental Matters

Innovations.

Suspending Operation

Our Representations
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Your Agreement

Bar Louie
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If You Used the Marks in Accordance with this Agreement

If You Used the Marks Other Than in Accordance with this Agreement

Your Acknowledgements
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Change to Marks

Brand Manual. 

You Agree to Abide by the Brand Manual

Format of the Brand Manual

We Own the Brand Manual

Confidentiality and Use of the Brand Manual
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You Agree to Treat Brand Manual as Confidential

Which Copy of the Brand Manual Controls

Revisions to the Brand Manual

Modifications to the System

Confidentiality
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Consequences of Breach

Accounting Records and Sales Reports
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Financial Statements
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Additional Information

PCI Compliance and Credit Cards
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Gift Cards and Affinity Programs

Our Right to Inspect Your Books and Records

Operational Inspections

Marketing Activities and Funds
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Allocation and Collection

Brand Fund
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Regional Fund
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Local Marketing and Promotion

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (100)



Grand Opening Marketing Program

Materials Available for Purchase

Standards

Our Review and Right to Approve All Proposed Marketing
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Rebates

Considerations as to Charitable Efforts

Additional Marketing Expenditure Encouraged

Computer Systems and Required Software. 
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Data
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Data Requirements and Usage

Extranet

No Separate Digital Sites
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POS Systems
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Electronic Identifiers; E-Mail

Outsourcing

Telephone Service

Changes
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Electronic Communication – Including E-Mail, Fax, and Texts

Technology Fee

Data Management Platform
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Required Insurance Coverage
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Endorsements. 

Notices to us

Construction Coverages
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Other Insurance Does Not Impact your Obligation

Additional Named Insured

Certificates of Insurance

Proof of Coverage

Required Coverages are Minimums

Changes
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By Us

Your Principals

Principals

By You
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Transfer Conditions
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Right of First Refusal bona fide
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Death or Incapacity

Consent to Transfer

No Transfers to a Non-Franchisee Party to Operate a Similar Restaurant
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Bankruptcy Issues

Securities Offers

Automatic
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With Notice. 
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With Notice and Opportunity to Cure

Bankruptcy

bona fide
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bona fide

Our Rights Instead of Termination

Reservation of Rights under Section 17.5

Damages

Cease Operation

Stop Using Marks and Intellectual Property

Cancel Assumed Names

Premises
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Our Option to Buy Your Assets

No Use of the Marks in Other Businesses

Pay All Sums Due
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Pay Damages

Return Confidential Information

Right to Enter and Continue Operations

Lost Future Royalties

Our Rights. 

Offsets

Full Time Efforts

Understandings
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Covenant Not to Compete or Engage in Injurious Conduct. 

Where Restrictions Apply

Post-Term
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Periods of Non-Compliance

Publicly-Held Entities

Personal Covenants

Construction

Claims Not a Defense

Covenant as to Anti-Terrorism Laws

Defaults

Payment of Taxes
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Payment of Trade Creditors

Your Right to Contest Liabilities

Compliance with Law

Notice of Violations and Actions

Independent Contractor Relationship. 

Notice of Status
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No Contracts in our Name

Indemnification

Procedure

Definitions
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Our Indemnification

Impact

Transmittal of Funds

Request for Approval

No Warranties or Guarantees

No Waivers
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Entire Agreement

Amendment

Introductory Paragraphs

Severability

No Third Party Rights
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Captions Don’t Amend Terms

Including
including but not limited to

Survival

How We Exercise Our Rights

Expenses

Counterparts

Choice of Law

Choice of Venue. 
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Mediation

Parties Rights Are Cumulative

Injunctions

WAIVER OF JURY TRIALS

MUST BRING CLAIMS WITHIN ONE YEAR

WAIVER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Payment of Legal Fees
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Your Investigation of the Restaurant Possibilities. 

No Warranties or Guarantees. 

Your Advisors. 

No Conflicting Obligations. 

Your Responsibility for the Choice of the Accepted Location. 

Your Responsibility for Operation of the Franchised Business. 

Different Franchise Offerings to Others. 

Our Advice

Your Independence
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Success Depends on You. 

Two or More Signatories

General Release

You (on behalf of yourself and your parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past 
and present members, officers, directors, members, managers, shareholders, agents and 
employees, in their corporate and individual capacities) and all guarantors of your obligations 
under this Agreement (collectively, “Releasors”) freely and without any influence forever 
release (and covenant not to sue) us, our parents, subsidiaries, predecessors, and affiliates 
and our/their respective past and present officers, directors, shareholders, agents and 
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employees, in their corporate and individual capacities (collectively “Releasees”), with respect 
to any and all claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action of whatever kind or nature, 
whether known or unknown, vested or contingent, suspected or unsuspected (collectively, 
“claims”), which any Releasor now owns or holds or may at any time have owned or held, 
including claims arising under federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances and claims 
arising out of, or relating to this Agreement and all other agreements between any Releasor 
and any Releasee, the sale of any franchise to any Releasor, the development and operation 
of the Bar Louie Restaurants and the development and operation of all other businesses 
operated by any Releasor that are franchised by any Releasee. You understand as well that 
you may later learn of new or different facts, but still, it is your intention to fully, finally, and 
forever release all of the claims that are released above. This includes your waiver of state 
laws that may otherwise limit a release (for example, Calif. Civil Code Section 1542, which 
states that “[a] general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party 
does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and 
that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor 
or released party”). You agree that we have given fair consideration for this General Release 
and you agree that this is a negotiated, complete, and final release of all claims. This General 
Release does not release any claims arising from representations made in our Franchise 
Disclosure Document and its exhibits or otherwise affect any claims arising after the date of 
this Agreement. 
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(to be signed by franchisee with its  
executive/management staff)
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(to be signed by franchisee with its  
non-executive/management staff)
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(a) (b)
(c)
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________________________ 
________________________ 
________________________ 

_________________

Development

Development Schedule

Term

Fees and Credits
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Protected Development Area

Reservation of Rights
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Other Brands

No License to use the Marks

Signing of the Franchise Agreements

Restaurant Development and Site Approval
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Provisions of the Franchise Agreement Incorporated By Reference
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(You specifically acknowledge 
and agree that the provisions in Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement apply to this Agreement as 
well. Among other things, the provisions of Section 27 provide (in the detail spelled out in the Franchise 
Agreement) that you agree that Texas law shall exclusively govern the terms of this Agreement (but 
not applying Texas conflict of laws rules), and that the parties agree to waive any right trial by jury,
that you are waiving the right to seek or collect punitive damages, that the parties must first mediate 
any dispute before bringing an action n court; that the venue for any action you may file against us will 
be in the courts having jurisdiction over Dallas, Texas, that you are waiving participation in a common 
or class action against us, and that all legal actions you bring must be brought within one (1) year from 
the occurrence of the facts giving rise to such claim or action – all as described in Section 27 of the 
Franchise Agreement, excluding claims for indemnification). 

Transfers

Defaults
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Entire Agreement and Amendment

Indemnity

Confirmation that You Read and Understand the Franchise Agreement

Captions
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The Development Area under this Agreement shall be: 

The Development Fee under this Agreement shall be: 

The Development Schedule under this Agreement shall be: 
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GT.COM Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms 
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.     

Board of Directors 
BLH TopCo, LLC 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BLH TopCo, LLC (a 
Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, members’ equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 25, 2022 
and December 26, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audits of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of matter 
As discussed in Note 10 to the financial statements, the Company has adopted new 
accounting guidance related to the adoption of FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification® 842, Leases, effective January 1, 2022. Our opinion is not modified with 
respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

GRANT THORNTON LLP 
500 N. Akard St., Suite 1200 
Dallas, TX 75201 
 
D +1 214 561 2300 
F +1 214 561 2370 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to 
evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
one year after the date the financial statements are issued. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit 
findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

G 

Dallas, Texas 
May 22, 2023 
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2022 2021
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,735$                8,900$                
Accounts receivable 1,912                  2,243                  
Inventories 1,896                  1,861                  
Prepaid expenses 1,350                  1,293                  

Total current assets 8,893                  14,297                

Property and equipment, net 19,598                27,657                
Operating right of use assets, net 39,050                -                          
Finance right of use assets, net 204                     -                          
Goodwill, net 16,446                18,085                
Other intangible assets, net 20,983                21,683                
Other non-current assets 247                     265                     

Total assets 105,421$            81,987$              

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 5,469$                3,696$                
Accrued liabilities 8,716                  8,866                  
Short-term lease liability 11,061                -                          
Short-term finance lease liability 50                       35                       
Current maturities of PPP loan -                          1,163                  
Current maturities of credit facility 1,300                  2,600                  

Total current liabilities 26,596                16,360                

PPP loan, less current maturities -                          8,837                  
Credit facility, less current maturities 51,272                51,240                
Deferred rent, less current portion -                          4,291                  
Lease liabilities, less current portion 32,729                -                          
Finance lease liabilities, less current portion 160                     127                     
Other non-current liabilities 169                     931                     

Total liabilities 110,926              81,786                

Commitments and contingencies

Members’ equity (deficit)
Additional paid-in capital 29,218                29,218                
Accumulated deficit (34,723)              (29,017)              

Members' equity (deficit) (5,505)                201                     

Total members' equity (deficit) 105,421$            81,987$              

December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

BLH TopCo, LLC

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5
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2022 2021
Revenues

Food and beverage 141,833$            133,670$            
Franchise royalties and fees 2,763                  2,648                  

Total revenues 144,596              136,318              

Costs of Company bar sales
Food and beverage 39,088                36,540                
Payroll and benefits 45,819                43,180                
Occupancy 14,535                13,956                
Other operating expenses 22,531                19,001                

Total costs of company bar sales 121,973              112,677              

Franchise support costs 1,136                  897                     
Marketing expenses 5,353                  5,660                  
General and administrative expenses 13,250                11,251                
Loss on disposal of assets and impairment 1,822                  1,564                  
Depreciation and amortization 11,841                13,694                

Total operating costs and expenses 33,402                33,066                

Loss from operations (10,779)              (9,425)                

Other expenses
Interest expense, net 4,651                  4,696                  
Gain on PPP loan forgiveness (10,116)              -                          

Total other expenses (5,465)                4,696                  

Loss before taxes (5,314)                (14,121)              
Income tax expense 6                         10                       

NET LOSS (5,320)$              (14,131)$            

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Additional Total
Paid-in Accumulated Members'
Capital Deficit Equity

Balance, December 27, 2020 29,218$             (14,886)$            14,332$             

Net loss -                         (14,131)              (14,131)              

Balance, December 26, 2021 29,218               (29,017)              201                    

Adjustment related to new accounting principle -                         (386)                   (386)                   

Net loss -                         (5,320)                (5,320)                

Balance, December 25, 2022 29,218$             (34,723)$            (5,505)$              

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss (5,320)$              (14,131)$            
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,841                13,694                
Gain on PPP loan forgiveness (10,116)              -                          
Deferred financing costs 91                       95                       
Loss on disposal of assets and impairment 1,822                  1,564                  
Paid-in-kind interest - third party 591                     30                       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 331                     44                       
Inventories (35)                      (245)                    
Prepaid expenses (57)                      314                     
Other non-current assets 18                       86                       
Deferred rent -                          (1,279)                
Accounts payable 1,772                  1,634                  
Accrued liabilities 462                     860                     
Other non-current liabilities (782)                    (10)                      

Net cash provided by operating activities 618                     2,656                  

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (3,817)                (4,227)                
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 31                       1                         
Purchases of domain name -                          (7)                        

Net cash used in investing activities (3,786)                (4,233)                

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - PPP Loan -                          10,000                
Repayment of long-term debt (1,950)                (600)                    
Borrowings on revolving credit facility -                          1,500                  
Repayment of revolving credit facility -                          (807)                    
Payments on capital lease obligations (47)                      (9)                        

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (1,997)                10,084                

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,165)                8,507                  

Cash at beginning of year 8,900                  393                     

Cash at end of year 3,735$                8,900$                

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

References in the notes to consolidated financial statements to “Bar Louie” or the “Company” refer to BLH 
TopCo, LLC and all entities included in the consolidated financial statements. 

Nature of Operations 

Bar Louie is a differentiated social casual “GastroBar” that delivers a comfortable, urban atmosphere known 
for its signature, hand-crafted cocktails made from fresh fruit and hand-squeezed juices and created in front 
of the guests. In addition, Bar Louie offers an extensive selection of traditionally and regionally inspired 
American food, including shareable plates, burgers and sandwiches served every day until close. 

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on May 19, 2020. On May 27, 2020, the Company acquired 
substantially all the assets (the “Business”) of BL Restaurant Operations, LLC and BL Restaurant 
Franchises, LLC.  The Company operates and is managed by its individual managers. 

The Company owned and operated 47 company-owned and 19 franchise locations at December 25, 2022, 
throughout the United States. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BLH TopCo, LLC and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, BLH Holdco, LLC, BLH Acquisition Co., LLC, BLH Franchises Restaurants, 
LLC, BLH White Marsh LLC, BL Firewheel – Garland Private Club, and BL Allen Private Club. All 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). In the opinion of management, 
all adjustments, consisting principally of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair 
presentation have been included. 

Segment Reporting and Geographic Information 

The Company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment, and as such has 
only one reportable segment. All the Company's revenues are derived in the United States of America. All 
the Company's assets are located in the United States of America. 

Fiscal Year 

The Company’s fiscal year is a 52-53-week year ending on the last Sunday of the month occurring before 
December 31. Fiscal year 2022 ended on December 25, 2022 and consisted of 52 weeks. Fiscal year 2021 
ended on December 26, 2021 and consisted of 52 weeks. 

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Leases 

Effective December 27, 2021, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and all related amendments using 
the modified retrospective approach. The Company's fiscal 2021 financial statements continue to be 
accounted for under the FASB's Topic 840 and have not been adjusted.  
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ASU No. 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the 
balance sheet. At lease inception, leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases with 
the associated right-of-use asset and lease liability measured at the net present value of future lease 
payments. Operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis as lease expense over the non-
cancelable lease term. Expenses for finance leases are comprised of the amortization of the right-of-use 
asset and interest expense recognized based on the effective interest method. At the date of adoption, the 
Company recorded operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $42,605 and $48,388, 
respectively. The Company re-classified existing kitchen equipment capital leases as finance lease right-
of-use assets, net and finance lease liabilities.  

The new standard provides for several optional practical expedients. Upon transition to Topic 842, the 
Company elected: 

 The package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which does not require 
the Company to reassess prior conclusions regarding whether contracts are or contain a lease, 
lease classification and initial direct lease costs. 

The new standard also provides for several accounting policy elections, as follows:  

 When the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, rather than use the Company's incremental 
borrowing rate, the Company elected to use a risk-free discount rate for the initial and subsequent 
measurement of lease liabilities for all asset classes. 

 The Company elected not to apply the recognition requirements for all leases with an original term 
of 12 months or less, for which the Company is not likely to exercise a renewal option or purchase 
the asset at the end of the lease; rather, short-term leases will continue to be recorded on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

Additional required disclosures for Topic 842 are contained in Note 10. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions, such as valuation of long-lived, definite- and indefinite-lived assets, 
estimated useful lives of assets and the reasonably assured lease terms of operating leases that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits in financial institutions and short-term investments with original 
maturities of 90 days or less. Checks issued, but not yet presented for payment to the bank, are reflected 
as a reduction of cash and cash equivalents. 

Liquidity and Credit Risk 

The primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash provided from operating activities, cash and 
cash equivalents, and secured credit facilities. The primary requirements for liquidity and capital are working 
capital and general corporate needs. Company operations have not required significant working capital 
and, similar to many restaurant chains, the Company has been able to operate, and will continue to operate, 
with negative working capital. The requirement for working capital is not significant since bar guests pay for 
their food and beverage purchases in cash or payment cards (credit or debit) at the time of sale. Thus, the 
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Company is often able to sell inventory before payment for such items is due to suppliers. The bars do not 
require significant inventories or receivables. 

The Company believes cash and cash equivalents and expected cash flow from operations are adequate 
to fund debt service requirements, operating lease obligations, capital expenditures and working capital 
obligations for the next 12 months. However, the ability to continue to meet these requirements and 
obligations will depend on, among other things, the Company's ability to achieve anticipated levels of 
revenue and cash flow from operations and the ability to manage costs and working capital successfully. 
Such operating performance will be subject to financial, economic, and other factors affecting the industry 
and operations of the Company, including factors beyond the Company’s control. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable consists of credit card receivables due from credit card providers, rebates due from 
suppliers, receivables due from third party delivery companies and franchise receivables due from 
franchisees. The Company typically collects the credit card receivables within two to three business days 
of the initial sale dates. Receivables due from third party delivery companies are collected within one to two 
weeks. Franchise receivables are typically collected within one week. An allowance for doubtful accounts 
has been established for legal fees that remain unreimbursed from one franchisee. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist primarily of food and beverage products, which are stated at the lower of cost, as 
determined using the moving weighted-average costing method (which approximates first-in, first-out 
method), or market. Any unused or spoiled inventory is written off when identified. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation 
of property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the 
asset, generally three to five years for equipment. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of their estimated lives or the related lease term. 

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Expenditures for 
betterments and major renewals are capitalized. The cost of assets sold or retired, and the related amounts 
of accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts in the year of disposal and the resulting gains 
or losses are included in operations. 

Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets 

Upon acquisition, identifiable intangible assets are recorded at fair value. Identifiable intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.  

Estimated useful lives for these identifiable intangible assets are as follows: 

Intangible Asset Classification 
Estimated 
Useful Life 

  
Trademarks Indefinite 
Franchise agreements 8 years 
Goodwill 10 years 
Liquor licenses Indefinite 
Favorable lease agreements 3 years 
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Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquired businesses over fair value attributed to underlying 
net tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets. 

The Company amortizes its goodwill over 10 years, and tests goodwill for impairment upon the occurrence 
of a triggering event indicating that the fair value of the Company might be less than its carrying amount. 
No triggering events were identified in 2022. The Company recognized $2,316 and $2,141 of amortization 
of goodwill, for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, respectively. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, subject to depreciation 
and amortization, are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate these assets may 
not be recoverable. Factors considered include significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the 
strategy for the overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. The recoverability is 
assessed in most cases by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the undiscounted cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset. If the sum of the anticipated undiscounted cash flows for the  
long-lived assets is less than their carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference 
between the anticipated discounted cash flows, which approximates fair value, and the carrying value of 
the long-lived assets. This assessment process requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding 
future cash flows and estimated useful lives, which are subject to a significant degree of judgment. The 
long-term financial forecasts represent the best estimate at the time and management believes the 
underlying assumptions are reasonable. If these assumptions change in the future, the Company may be 
required to record impairment charges for these assets. 

Due to the impact of changes in customer behavior and lower than expected sales at certain bars, certain 
leasehold improvements had carrying values that exceeded their estimated fair values. During fiscal 2022, 
the Company had impairment charges of $1,345 related to eight bars. During fiscal 2021, the Company 
had impairment charges of $1,405 for five bars.  

Liquor Licenses 

The costs of obtaining non-transferable liquor licenses that are directly issued by local government agencies 
for nominal fees are expensed as incurred. Annual liquor license renewal fees in excess of $3 are expensed 
over the renewal term. The costs of purchasing transferable liquor licenses through open markets in 
jurisdictions with a limited number of authorized liquor licenses are capitalized as indefinite-lived intangible 
assets and included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheet. Indefinite-lived 
liquor licenses are reviewed for impairment at least annually or more frequently should an event occur, or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Due to the impact of pricing and 
availability of liquor licenses in the open market, certain liquor licenses classified as intangible assets could 
have carrying values that exceeded their estimated fair values. The Company determined the estimated 
fair value based on prices in the open market for licenses in similar jurisdictions (Level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy). The Company recorded no impairment for the years ended December 25, 2022 and 
December 26, 2021. 

Trade Name 

A trade name is considered to be an important element associated with the sales appeal of certain products 
and services. The trade name distinguishes goods and services from competitors, indicates the source of 
the goods and services, and serves as an indication of the quality of the product. The Company trade name 
consists of various protected words, symbols, and designs that help identify the Company’s products and 
services such as the “Bar Louie” trade name. Trade names are classified as indefinite-lived intangible 
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assets and included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets and are reviewed 
for impairment annually. The Company recorded no impairment for the years ended December 25, 2022 
and December 26, 2021. 

Favorable and Unfavorable Leases 

A favorable or unfavorable leasehold interest represents the future lease obligations under the in-place 
contractual lease terms that are either above or below market value. The value of acquired leases that were 
determined to be favorable or unfavorable to market rents are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 
and amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years, the average remaining term of the operating lease 
agreements. Favorable leases and unfavorable leases are included within other intangible assets on the 
consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized $90 of amortization of favorable and unfavorable 
leases, which is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of 
operations for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 

Franchise Agreements 

The cost of franchise agreements are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the 
agreement. This capitalized cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of eight 
years and is included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization 
was $610 for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 

Deferred Franchise Revenue 

The Company collects certain franchise development fees from franchisees in connection with franchise 
development agreements and the build out of future franchisees’ locations. These fees are earned as 
franchisees develop and open bars in accordance with the related development schedule and are 
recognized over the life of the franchise agreement, usually 10 years. Development fees collected and 
unearned were $173 and $175 for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, 
respectively. Based on the development schedule, $4 and $25 were expected to be earned within one year 
and have been classified as current on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 25, 2022 and 
December 26, 2021, respectively. 

Deferred Financing Fees 

Deferred financing fees are amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining life of the debt 
as a component of interest expense. During 2020, the Company incurred $357 in costs in connection with 
obtaining financing. Interest expense related to total deferred financing fees was $91 for the year ended 
December 25, 2022, and $95 for the year ended December 26, 2021. Deferred financing fees are included 
as a reduction of debt within long-term obligations on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenues, as presented on the consolidated statements of operations, represent food and beverage 
products sold and are presented net of discounts, coupons, and promotions. Revenue from bar sales is 
recognized when food and beverage products are sold. Deferred franchise revenue is recognized upon the 
opening of the franchised bar over the life of the franchise agreement. Franchise area development fee 
revenues are dependent upon the number of bars in each territory and are recognized as franchisees 
develop and open bars over the life of the franchise agreement. Royalties are accrued as earned and are 
calculated each period based on the franchisees underlying bar sales. Cash received from the sale of gift 
cards is deferred and recognized upon redemption. 
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Food and Beverage 

Food and beverage include the cost of food and beverage, and includes inventories, warehousing, and 
related purchasing and distribution. Vendor allowances received in connection with the purchase of a 
vendor's products are recognized as a reduction of the related food and beverage costs as earned. Vendor 
agreements are generally for a period of one year or more and payments received are initially recorded as 
accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Gift Cards 

Revenues from the sale of gift cards are deferred and recognized when redeemed by the holder. Deferred 
gift card revenue is included within accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company 
did not recognize any gift card breakage revenue during the years ended December 25, 2022 and 
December 26, 2021. 

Marketing Expenses 

Marketing costs are expensed as incurred when the advertising takes place. Marketing expenses for the 
year ended December 25, 2022 were $5,353 and for the year ended December 26, 2021 were $5,660.  

Pre-Opening Costs 

New store opening costs incurred with the opening of new bars are expensed as incurred. These costs 
include manager salaries, relocation costs, supplies, recruiting expenses, employee payroll, training costs 
(including accommodations for training team members) and public relations and marketing to support the 
opening of a Bar Louie including launch campaign costs or initial opening promotions and events. 
Pre-opening costs also include occupancy costs recorded during the period between date of possession 
and the bar opening date. The Company did not open any new locations during the years ended 
December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 

Income Taxes 

The Company files Form 1065, U.S. Partnership Return of Income, which is due on or before April 15 of 
each year, unless extended. All income or loss of the Company is passed through to the members. The 
members report their respective percentage of any income or loss on their respective federal income tax or 
information returns. The Company does pay franchise taxes, which are included in general and 
administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

U.S. GAAP requires company management to evaluate tax positions taken by the Company and recognize 
a tax liability (or asset) if the Company has taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not 
be sustained upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company’s management has 
analyzed the tax positions taken by the Company and has concluded that as of December 25, 2022 and 
December 26, 2021, there are no uncertain positions taken or expected to be taken that would require 
recognition of a liability (or asset) or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. The Company is 
subject to routine examinations by taxing authorities; however, there are currently no examinations for any 
tax periods in progress. The Company’s policy is to recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax 
benefits in interest expense and any penalties in general and administrative expenses. The Company’s 
management believes they are not subject to income tax examinations for any years prior to 2020. 

The Company has not recognized any penalty, interest or tax impact related to uncertain tax positions as 
of and for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 
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Sales Tax Liability 

Sales taxes are imposed by state, county, and city governmental authorities, collected from customers, and 
remitted to the appropriate taxing authorities. The Company’s accounting policy is to record the sales taxes 
collected as accrued liabilities and then remove the liabilities when the sales taxes are remitted. Revenues 
are recorded net of sales tax, so there is no impact on the consolidated statements of operations for sales 
taxes. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or price paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Authoritative guidance for 
fair value measurements establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation models based upon 
the degree to which they are observable. The three levels of the fair value measurement hierarchy are as 
follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs represent quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the 
measurement date; 

Level 2 -  Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) that are either directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement 
date for the duration of the instrument's anticipated life; and 

Level 3 -  Inputs are unobservable and, therefore, reflect Management’s best estimate of the 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

The Company estimates the fair value of its assets and liabilities, which qualify as financial instruments, 
and includes this additional information in the notes to consolidated financial statements when the fair value 
is different from the carrying value of these instruments. The estimated fair value of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate 
their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long-term 
debt is determined by Level 2 inputs, using applicable rates for similar instruments and collateral as of the 
consolidated balance sheet date and approximates $51,000 and $60,000 as of years ended December 25, 
2022 and December 26, 2021, respectively.  

Concentration of Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash. 
The Company maintains cash in bank accounts, which exceed federally insured amounts. Management 
evaluates the financial condition of the institution and has not incurred a loss and does not anticipate any 
future losses. 

The Company relies on a few distributors for the majority of its non-alcoholic beverage and grocery 
purchases. However, the products purchased through the distributors are widely available at similar prices 
from multiple distributors. The Company does not anticipate any risk to the business in the event that these 
distributors are no longer available to provide their goods and services. 
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NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment by category are comprised of the following as of years ended December 25, 2022 
and December 26, 2021: 

Asset Category Asset Life 2022 2021 
    

Leasehold improvements 

Lesser of 9 
years or 

remaining 
lease $ 24,984 $ 26,194 

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years 6,936 5,919 
Bar equipment 3-5 years 1,074 1,093 
Kitchen equipment 3-5 years 5,294 5,079 
Cash registers and computers 2-5 years 1,273 1,588 
Audio visual equipment 3-5 years 335 212 
Buildings under deemed landlord financing 25 years - 546 
Construction in progress  770 1,958 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (21,068) (14,932) 
    

Property and equipment, net   $ 19,598 $ 27,657 
 
Depreciation expense was $8,764 and $10,853 for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 
2021, respectively, and is included within depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

NOTE 4 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s goodwill as of 
years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021: 

 2022 2021 
   
Beginning balance $ 18,085 $ 20,226 
Gift card liability adjustment 677 - 
Amortization (2,316) (2,141) 
   

Ending balance $ 16,446 $ 18,085 
 
Identifiable intangible assets that are separable and have determinable useful lives are valued separately 
and amortized over their benefit period. 

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (179)



BLH TopCo, LLC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

Years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021 
(Dollars in thousands) 

17 

Other intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 25, 2022: 

 Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Purchase of 
Domain Name Net Amount 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets     
Trade names and 

trademarks $ 15,355 $ - $ - $ 15,355 
Liquor licenses 2,271 - - 2,271 

     
 $ 17,626 $ - $ - $ 17,626 
     
Definite-lived intangible 

assets     
Franchise agreements $ 4,899 $ 1,580 $ - $ 3,319 
Favorable lease 

agreements 270 232 - 38 
     
 5,169 1,812 - 3,357 
     

Total other 
intangible assets $ 22,795 $ 1,812 $ - $ 20,983 

 
Other intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 26, 2021: 

 Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Purchase of 
Domain Name Net Amount 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets     
Trade names and 

trademarks $ 15,348 $ - $ 7 $ 15,355 
Liquor licenses 2,271 - - 2,271 

     
 $ 17,619 $ - $ 7 $ 17,626 
     
Definite-lived intangible 

assets     
Franchise agreements $ 4,899 $ 969 $ - $ 3,930 
Favorable lease 

agreements 270 143 - 127 
     
 5,169 1,112 - 4,057 
     

Total other 
intangible assets $ 22,788 $ 1,112 $ 7 $ 21,683 

 
As of December 25, 2022, the useful life of trade names and trademarks and liquor licenses are indefinite, 
eight years for franchise agreements and three years for favorable lease agreements. Amortization expense 
for intangible assets was $700 for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, and is 
included within depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of operations. There were no 
liquor license impairments for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 
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Amortization expense of these intangible assets over the next five fiscal years is expected to be the 
following: 

 

Aggregate 
Amortization 

Expense 
  
2023 $ 660 
2024 610 
2025 610 
2026 610 
2027 610 
  
 $ 3,100 

 
Select states require the ownership of liquor licenses in order to sell alcoholic beverages in a restaurant 
retail environment. The Company purchased no liquor licenses in 2022 or 2021. 

NOTE 5 - ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

Accrued liabilities are comprised of the following as of years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 
2021: 

 2022 2021 
   
Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 2,075 $ 2,327 
Deferred rent - 1,380 
Sales, use and property taxes payable 1,085 1,313 
Accrued interest 1,221 1,068 
Assumed cure obligations - 15 
Accrued rent 624 552 
Gift card liability 998 290 
Accrued utilities 335 300 
Other 2,378 1,621 
   

Accrued liabilities $ 8,716 $ 8,866 
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NOTE 6 - DEBT 

Credit Facility 

The following tables summarize the Company’s credit facility as of years ended December 25, 2022 and 
December 26, 2021: 

Issuance Maturity Date Rate 

2022 
Original 
Principal 

Carrying 
Amount 

     
Term loan A April 30, 2024 9.64% $ 23,927 $ 23,375 
Term loan B April 30, 2024 10.14% 21,073 21,811 
Revolving credit facility April 30, 2024 10.21%  7,500 
Less current portion    (1,300) 
     

Subtotal 51,386 
  
Unamortized debt issuance costs (114) 
  
Long-term credit facility, less current maturities $ 51,272 

 

Issuance Maturity Date Rate 

2021 
Original 
Principal 

Carrying 
Amount 

     
Term loan A April 30, 2024 7.50% $ 23,927 $ 24,583 
Term loan B April 30, 2024 8.00% 21,073 21,962 
Revolving credit facility April 30, 2024 7.50%  7,500 
Less current portion    (2,600) 
     

Subtotal 51,445 
  
Unamortized debt issuance costs (205) 
  

Long-term credit facility, less current maturities $ 51,240 
 
The credit facility, bears interest at a rate equal to (i) a Base Rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 
applicable margin rate of 5.00% for Term A loans or revolving loans and 5.50% for Term B loans (ii) the 
greater of London Interbank Offered Rate or 1.5%, plus applicable margin rate of 6.00% for Term A loans 
or revolving loans and 6.50% for Term B loans. Substantially all assets of the Company are pledged as 
collateral. 

The Company is required to meet certain financial covenants included in the credit facility amendment with 
respect to leverage ratios, fixed charge ratios, and capital expenditures, as well as other customary 
affirmative and negative covenants. As of December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, the Company was 
in compliance with its financial covenants associated with the debt under the credit facility.  
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As of December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021 the Company utilized $0 for letters of credit, leaving 
$2,500 available to use under the revolving credit facility. Fees on the letters of credit are payable monthly 
at a rate of 6.00% per annum. The Company pays a facility fee of .50% for unused line of credit balances. 

Principal amounts on the term loans are paid quarterly in installments as set forth in the credit agreement. 
The aggregate outstanding balances of the term loans and the revolver become due on April 30, 2024. 

PPP Loan 

On March 24, 2021, BLH Acquisition Co., LLC (the “Borrower”), a subsidiary of BLH Topco, LLC 
(the “Company”), was granted a loan (the “Loan”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. in the aggregate 
amount of $10,000, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under Division A, Title I of 
the CARES Act, which was enacted March 27, 2020, and expanded on December 21, 2020 under the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021. 

The Loan matures on March 24, 2026, and bears interest at a rate of 0.98% per annum, payable monthly 
commencing on August 8, 2022. The Loan may be prepaid by the Borrower at any time prior to maturity 
with no prepayment penalties. Funds from the Loan may only be used for payroll costs, costs used to 
continue group health care benefits, mortgage payments, rent, and utilities. The Company has used the 
entire amount of the loan for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act.  The Company completed 
the process of having the loan forgiven during 2022 and a gain of $10,116 was recognized. 

Finance Lease Obligations 

 2022 2021 
   
Capital lease obligations $ 210 $ 162 
Less current portion of capital lease obligations (50) (35) 
   

Capital lease obligations, less current maturities $ 160 $ 127 
 
Maturities of debt over each of the following five years are as follows: 

2023 $ 1,350 
2024 51,439 
2025 58 
2026 44 
2027 5 
  

Total $ 52,896 

NOTE 7 - RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company has a credit agreement with Antares Capital LP, as agent for all lenders which are the 
majority owners of the Company. As such, the Company routinely makes payments to Antares Capital LP. 
The Company made interest and fee payments of $3,840 and $3,475 during the years ended December 25, 
2022 and December 26, 2021, respectively. The Company made $1,950 and $1,407 in principal payments 
during the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021. 

The Company is advised by an independent Board of Directors consisting of four Board members. The 
Board consists of three independent advisors and the Company’s CEO. The Company issues quarterly 
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payments for Board Member fees to the independent advisors. The Company made payments of $353 and 
$222 to Board Members during the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, respectively. 

NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

The Company has a defined contribution benefit plan in accordance with section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code (“401(k) Plan”) that is open to employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. The 
401(k) Plan allows employees to defer the receipt of a portion of their compensation and contribute such 
amount to one or more investment options. The Company pays certain administrative expenses incurred 
by the 401(k) Plan, including recordkeeping, Trustee, and audit fees.  Expenses recognized in 2022 were 
$0 and in 2021 were $55. 

NOTE 9 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

The following table details supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities 
for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021: 

 2022 2021 
Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing and 

financing activities:   
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities $ 314 $ 274 
Finance lease additions 68 171 

   
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:   

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest $ 3,701 $ 3,314 
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 8 2 

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Lease Commitments 

The Company has real property leases, classified as operating leases, for its corporate headquarters and 
bar operations, with original terms ranging from one to nine years.  Generally, the leases have available 
renewal options which extend the terms of the underlying leases by five years for each renewal option.   

The real property leases generally require the payment of fixed monthly base rent payments which may 
escalate over the term of the lease. The Company is also responsible for paying variable operating 
expenses, which may include real estate taxes, insurance, other operating expenses or percentage rent.  
Additionally, variable lease expenses related to certain real property leases may include escalations in rent 
costs that result from rent adjustments required under lease agreements whereby rental increases are 
based (in full or in part) on changes in the Consumer Price Index. 
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Leases, Prior to January 1, 2022 

Year  
Operating 

Leases Capital Leases 
   
2022 $ 12,052 $ 48 
2023 10,863 42 
2024 9,197 41 
2025 7,595 41 
2026 5,550 22 
Thereafter 5,374 - 
   

Total minimum lease payments $ 50,629 194 
   
Less imputed interest  (32) 
Present value of minimum lease payments  162 
   
Less current portion  (35) 
   

Long-term capital lease obligations  $ 127 
 
Total lease expense for the year ended December 26, 2021 was $11,823. Lease expense related to lease 
agreements was recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Leases, January 1, 2022 and After 

Right-of-use assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, while 
lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. 
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of a lease based on the 
net present value of lease payments over the lease term.  

Certain of the Company's leases include options to renew or terminate the lease. The exercise of lease 
renewal or early termination options is at the Company's sole discretion. The Company regularly evaluates 
the renewal and early termination options and when they are reasonably certain of exercise, the Company 
includes such options in the lease term.   

In determining the discount rate used to measure the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, the Company 
uses the rate implicit in the lease, or if not readily available, the Company uses a risk-free rate based on 
U.S. Treasury notes or bond rates for a similar term. 

Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with the Company's long-lived asset policy. 
The Company reassesses lease classification and remeasures right-of-use assets and lease liabilities when 
a lease is modified and that modification is not accounted for as a separate new lease or upon certain other 
events that require reassessment in accordance with Topic 842. 

The Company made significant assumptions and judgments in applying the requirements of Topic 842. In 
particular, the Company: 

 Evaluated whether a contract contains a lease, by considering factors such as whether the Company 
obtained substantially all rights to control an identifiable underlying asset and whether the lessor 
has substantive substitution rights; 
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 Determined whether contracts contain embedded leases; and 

 Allocated consideration in the contract between lease and nonlease components. 

The Company does not have any material leasing transactions with related parties. 

The following table summarizes the lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as of December 25, 2022: 

Right-of-use assets, net:  
Operating leases $ 39,050 
Finance leases 204 

  
Total right-of-use assets, net $ 39,254 

 
Lease liabilities:  

Current operating lease liabilities $ 11,061 
Current finance lease liabilities 50 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 32,729 
Long-term finance lease liabilities 160 

  
Total lease liabilities $ 44,000 

 
Below is a summary of expenses incurred pertaining to leases during the year ended December 25, 2022: 

Finance lease expense:  
Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 48 
Interest on lease liabilities  16 

Operating lease expense 10,547 
Short-term lease expense 38 
Variable lease expense 1,923 
  

Total lease expense $ 12,572 
 
The following table presents supplemental information related to leases: 

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years):  
Operating leases 4.55 
Finance leases 3.88 

  
Weighted average discount rate:  

Operating leases 1.69% 
Finance leases 7.75% 
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The table below summarizes the Company's scheduled future minimum lease payments for years ending 
after December 25, 2022: 

Year Ending  
Operating 

Leases 
Finance 
Leases 

   
December 31, 2023 $ 11,649 $ 64 
December 29, 2024 10,580 64 
December 28, 2025 9,031 64 
December 27, 2026 6,951 46 
December 26, 2027 4,678 5 
Thereafter 2,448 - 
   

Total lease payments 45,337 243 
   

Less: present value discount (1,547) (33) 
   
Total lease liabilities 43,790 210 
   

Less: current portion (11,061) (50) 
   
Long-term lease liabilities $ 32,729 $ 160 

 
The following table includes supplemental cash flow and noncash information related to the leases for the 
year ended December 25, 2022: 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:  
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 10,919 
Operating cash flows from finance leases 15 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 47 

  
Supplemental noncash information:  

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:  
Operating leases 6,571 
Finance leases 68 

Right-of-use assets adjustment due to early lease termination:  
Operating leases (199) 

 
Franchise Agreements 

The Company enters into franchise agreements that require the franchisee to remit ongoing royalty and 
marketing fees based on a percentage of the franchisee's sales revenue and the Company, as franchisor, 
to provide brand specific information including food and beverage requirements, supplier 
recommendations, marketing materials, operations manuals and licenses to certain franchise intellectual 
property. 

Legal Matters 

Within the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to private lawsuits, government audits, 
administrative proceedings and other claims. These matters typically involve claims from guests, 
employees and others related to operational and employment issues common to the foodservice industry. 
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These claims may exist at any given time.  The Company does not believe that any claim will have a 
material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations. 

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 22, 2023, the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
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Board of Directors 
BLH TopCo, LLC 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  BLH TopCo, LLC (a 
Delaware Corporation) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, members’ equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 26, 2021 
and December 27, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audits of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to 
evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued. 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

GRANT THORNTON LLP 
1717 Main St., Suite 1800 
Dallas, TX 75201-4657 
 
D +1 214 561 2300 
F +1 214 561 2370 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit 
findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we identified during the 
audit. 

 

Dallas, Texas 
April 25, 2022 
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BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

2021 2020
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8,900$               393$                   
Accounts receivable 2,243                  2,287                  
Inventories 1,861                  1,616                  
Prepaid expenses 1,293                  1,607                  

Total current assets 14,297               5,903                  

Property and equipment, net 27,657               35,407               
Goodwill 18,085               20,226               
Other intangible assets, net 21,683               22,376               
Other non-current assets 265                     351                     

Total assets 81,987$             84,263$             

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 3,696$               2,062$               
Accrued liabilities 8,866                  7,875                  
Current maturities of PPP loan 1,163                  -                          
Current maturities of credit facility 2,600                  1,250                  
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 35                       -                          

Total current liabilities 16,360               11,187               

Long-term PPP loan, less current maturities 8,837                  -                          
Long-term credit facility, less current maturities 51,240               52,168               
Deferred rent, less current portion 4,291                  5,685                  
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 127                     -                          
Other non-current liabilities 931                     891                     

Total liabilities 81,786               69,931               

Commitments and contingencies

MEMBERS’ EQUITY 
Additional paid-in capital 29,218               29,218               
Accumulated deficit (29,017)              (14,886)              

Members' equity 201                     14,332               

Total members' equity 81,987$             84,263$             

December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5
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2021 2020
Revenues

Food and beverage 133,670$           50,255$              
Franchise royalties and fees 2,648                  520                     

Total revenues 136,318              50,775                

Costs of Company bar sales
Food and beverage 36,540                13,294                
Payroll and benefits 43,180                16,930                
Occupancy 13,956                7,479                  
Other operating expenses 19,001                8,325                  

112,677              46,028                

Franchise support costs 897                     325                     
Marketing expenses 5,660                  2,721                  
General and administrative expenses 11,251                6,562                  
Loss on disposal of assets and impairment 1,564                  360                     
Depreciation and amortization 13,694                7,173                  

Total operating costs and expenses 33,066                17,141                

Loss from operations (9,425)                (12,394)              

Other expenses
Interest expense, net 4,696                  2,492                  

Total other expenses 4,696                  2,492                  

Loss before taxes (14,121)              (14,886)              
Income tax expense 10                       -                      

NET LOSS (14,131)$            (14,886)$            

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 26, 2021 and Period from May 27, 2020 to December 27, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6
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Additional Total
Paid-in Accumulated Members'
Capital Deficit Equity

Balance, May 27, 2020 29,218$             -$                       29,218$             

Net loss -                         (14,886)              (14,886)              

Balance, December 27, 2020 29,218               (14,886)              14,332               

Net loss -                         (14,131)              (14,131)              

Balance, December 26, 2021 29,218$             (29,017)$            201$                  

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY

Years ended December 26, 2021 and Period from May 27, 2020 to December 27, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

7
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2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss (14,131)$            (14,886)$            
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 13,694               7,173                 
Deferred financing costs 95                      56                      
Loss on disposal of assets and impairment 1,564                 360                    
Paid-in-kind interest - third party 30                      2,115                 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 44                      (927)                   
Inventory (245)                   175                    
Prepaid expenses 314                    (1,188)                
Other non-current assets 86                      (166)                   
Deferred rent (1,279)                (359)                   
Accounts payable 1,634                 2,059                 
Accrued liabilities 860                    (1,137)                
Other non-current liabilities (10)                     (3)                       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,656                 (6,728)                

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (4,227)                (722)                   
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1                        -                        
Purchases of domain name (7)                       -                        

Net cash used in investing activities (4,233)                (722)                   

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - PPP Loan 10,000               -                        
Repayment of long-term debt (600)                   -                        
Borrowings on revolving credit facility 1,500                 6,807                 
Repayment of revolving credit facility (807)                   -                        
Debt issuance costs -                        (357)                   
Payments on capital lease obligations (9)                       -                        

Net cash provided by financing activities 10,084               6,450                 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS 8,507                 (1,000)                

Cash at beginning of year 393                    1,393                 

Cash at end of year 8,900$               393$                  

BLH TopCo, LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 26, 2021 and Period from May 27,2020 to December 27, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

8
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NOTE 1 - BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

References in the notes to consolidated financial statements to “Bar Louie” or the “Company" refer to BLH 
TopCo, LLC and all entities included in the consolidated financial statements. 

Nature of Operations 

Bar Louie is a differentiated social casual “GastroBar” that delivers a comfortable, urban atmosphere known 
for its signature, hand-crafted cocktails made from fresh fruit and hand-squeezed juices and created in front 
of the guests. In addition, Bar Louie offers an extensive selection of traditionally and regionally inspired 
American food, including shareable plates, burgers and sandwiches served every day until close. 

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on May 19, 2020. On May 27, 2020, the Company acquired 
substantially all the assets (the “Business”) of BL Restaurant Operations, LLC and BL Restaurant 
Franchises, LLC.  The Company operates and is managed by its individual managers. 

The Company owned and operated 49 company-owned and 21 franchise locations at December 26, 2021, 
throughout the United States. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BLH TopCo, LLC and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, BLH Holdco, LLC, BLH Acquisition Co., LLC, BLH Franchises Restaurants, LLC 
and BLH White Marsh LLC. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). In the opinion of management, 
all adjustments, consisting principally of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair 
presentation have been included. 

Segment Reporting and Geographic Information 

The Company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment, and as such has 
only one reportable segment. All the Company's revenues are derived in the United States of America. All 
the Company's assets are located in the United States of America. 

Fiscal Year 

The Company’s fiscal year is a 52-53-week year ending on the last Sunday of the month occurring before 
December 31.  Fiscal year 2021 ended on December 26, 2021 and consisted of 52 weeks.  Fiscal year 
2020 ended on December 27, 2020 and consisted of 31 weeks. 

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and restrictions imposed by federal, state, and local 
governments in response to the outbreak has disrupted and adversely affected and could continue to 
adversely affect our financial results, operations, and outlook for an extended period of time. 
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During 2021 and 2020, individuals in many areas where the Company operates were required to practice 
social distancing, restricted from gathering in groups and/or mandated to “stay home” except for “essential” 
purposes. In response to the COVID-19 outbreak and government restrictions in 2021 and 2020, the 
Company was required to restrict in-restaurant dining, offer takeout and delivery, and/or implement modified 
work hours. The mobility restrictions, fear of contracting the coronavirus and the sharp increase in 
unemployment caused by the closure of businesses in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, have adversely 
affected, and may continue to adversely affect our guest traffic, which in turn adversely impacts our liquidity, 
financial condition, or results of operations. While mobility restrictions have loosened or been lifted, guests 
may still be reluctant to return to in-restaurant dining and the impact of lost wages due to COVID-19 related 
unemployment may dampen consumer spending for the foreseeable future. 

To protect the health and safety of our employees and guests, the Company has provided face coverings 
for all restaurant employees, purchased additional sanitation supplies, and purchased personal protective 
materials. The Company also accelerated efforts to provide digital and third-party delivery options to 
enhance accessibility to guests. These measures have increased operating costs and adversely affected 
results of operations and liquidity. 

To preserve liquidity, the Company continues to delay restaurant remodels and capital expenditures where 
possible for existing restaurants that were scheduled to begin during 2021. 

Guests have returned at a steady rate during 2021 as restrictions for COVID-19 have eased, however, the 
Company cannot predict how long the COVID-19 outbreak will last or if it will reoccur even though vaccines 
have been widely administered, when government restrictions and mandates will be imposed or lifted, or 
how quickly, if at all, guests will return to their pre-COVID-19 purchasing behaviors, so the Company cannot 
predict how long results of operations and financial performance may be adversely impacted. 

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions, such as valuation of long-lived, definite- and indefinite-lived assets, 
estimated useful lives of assets and the reasonably assured lease terms of operating leases that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits in financial institutions and short-term investments with original 
maturities of 90 days or less. Checks issued, but not yet presented for payment to the bank, are reflected 
as a reduction of cash and cash equivalents. 
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Liquidity and Credit Risk 

The primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash provided from operating activities, cash and 
cash equivalents, and secured credit facilities. The primary requirements for liquidity and capital are working 
capital and general corporate needs. Company operations have not required significant working capital 
and, similar to many restaurant chains, the Company has been able to operate, and will continue to operate, 
with negative working capital. The requirement for working capital is not significant since bar guests pay for 
their food and beverage purchases in cash or payment cards (credit or debit) at the time of sale. Thus, the 
Company is often able to sell inventory before payment for such items is due to suppliers. The bars do not 
require significant inventories or receivables. 

The Company believes cash and cash equivalents and expected cash flow from operations are adequate 
to fund debt service requirements, operating lease obligations, capital expenditures and working capital 
obligations for the next 12 months. However, the ability to continue to meet these requirements and 
obligations will depend on, among other things, the Company's ability to achieve anticipated levels of 
revenue and cash flow from operations and the ability to manage costs and working capital successfully. 
Such operating performance will be subject to financial, economic, and other factors affecting the industry 
and operations of the Company, including factors beyond the Company’s control. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable consists of credit card receivables due from credit card providers, rebates due from 
suppliers, receivables due from third party delivery companies and franchise receivables due from 
franchisees. The Company typically collects the credit card receivables within two to three business days 
of the initial sale dates. Receivables due from third party delivery companies are collected within one to two 
weeks. Franchise receivables are typically collected within one week. An allowance for doubtful accounts 
has been established for legal fees that remain unreimbursed from one franchisee. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist primarily of food and beverage products, which are stated at the lower of cost, as 
determined using the moving weighted-average costing method (which approximates first-in, first-out 
method), or market. Any unused or spoiled inventory is written off when identified. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation 
of property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the 
asset, generally three to five years for equipment. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of their estimated lives or the related lease term. 

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Expenditures for 
betterments and major renewals are capitalized. The cost of assets sold or retired, and the related amounts 
of accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts in the year of disposal and the resulting gains 
or losses are included in operations. 

Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets 

Upon acquisition, identifiable intangible assets are recorded at fair value. Identifiable intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.  
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Estimated useful lives for these identifiable intangible assets are as follows: 

Intangible Asset Classification 
Estimated 
Useful Life 

  
Trademarks Indefinite 
Franchise agreements 8 years 
Goodwill 10 years 
Liquor licenses Indefinite 
Favorable lease agreements 3 years 

 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquired businesses over fair value attributed to underlying 
net tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets. 

The Company amortizes its goodwill over 10 years, and tests goodwill for impairment upon the occurrence 
of a triggering event indicating that the fair value of the Company might be less than its carrying amount. 
No triggering events were identified in 2021. The Company recognized $2,141 and $1,259 of amortization 
of goodwill, which is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of 
operations for the year ended December 26, 2021 and the period ended December 27, 2020, respectively. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, subject to depreciation 
and amortization, are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate these assets may 
not be recoverable. Factors considered include significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the 
strategy for the overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. The recoverability is 
assessed in most cases by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the undiscounted cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset. If the sum of the anticipated undiscounted cash flows for the long-
lived assets is less than their carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between 
the anticipated discounted cash flows, which approximates fair value, and the carrying value of the long-
lived assets. This assessment process requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding future 
cash flows and estimated useful lives, which are subject to a significant degree of judgment. The long-term 
financial forecasts represent the best estimate at the time and management believes the underlying 
assumptions are reasonable. If these assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required to 
record impairment charges for these assets. 

Due to the impact of changes in customer behavior and lower than expected sales at certain bars, certain 
leasehold improvements had carrying values that exceeded their estimated fair values. During fiscal 2021, 
the Company recorded an impairment of $1,405 on the leasehold improvements of five bars. During fiscal 
2020, no impairments were recorded. The amounts are included within loss on disposal of assets and 
impairment on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Liquor Licenses 

The costs of obtaining non-transferable liquor licenses that are directly issued by local government agencies 
for nominal fees are expensed as incurred. Annual liquor license renewal fees are expensed over the 
renewal term. The costs of purchasing transferable liquor licenses through open markets in jurisdictions 
with a limited number of authorized liquor licenses are capitalized as indefinite-lived intangible assets and 
included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheet. Indefinite-lived liquor 
licenses are reviewed for impairment at least annually or more frequently should an event occur, or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Due to the impact of pricing and 
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availability of liquor licenses in the open market, certain liquor licenses classified as intangible assets had 
carrying values that exceeded their estimated fair values. The Company determined the estimated fair value 
based on prices in the open market for licenses in similar jurisdictions (Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy). 
The Company recorded no impairment for the year ended December 26, 2021, and impairment of $344 for 
the period ended December 27, 2020. 

Trade Name 

A trade name is considered to be an important element associated with the sales appeal of certain products 
and services. The trade name distinguishes goods and services from competitors, indicates the source of 
the goods and services, and serves as an indication of the quality of the product. The Company trade name 
consists of various protected words, symbols, and designs that help identify the Company’s products and 
services such as the “Bar Louie” trade name. Trade names are classified as indefinite-lived intangible 
assets and included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets and are reviewed 
for impairment annually. The Company recorded no impairment for the year ended December 26, 2021 and 
for the period ended December 27, 2020. 

Favorable and Unfavorable Leases 

A favorable or unfavorable leasehold interest represents the future lease obligations under the in-place 
contractual lease terms that are either above or below market value. The value of acquired leases that were 
determined to be favorable or unfavorable to market rents are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 
and amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years, the average remaining term of the operating lease 
agreements. Favorable leases and unfavorable leases are included within other intangible assets on the 
consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized $90 and $53 of amortization of favorable and 
unfavorable leases, which is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations for the year ended December 26, 2021, and the period ended December 27, 2020, 
respectively. 

Franchise Agreements 

The cost of franchise agreements are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the 
agreement. This capitalized cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of eight 
years and is included within other intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization 
was $610 for the year ended December 26, 2021, and $359 for the period ended December 27,2020. 

Deferred Franchise Revenue 

The Company collects certain franchise development fees from franchisees in connection with franchise 
development agreements and the build out of future franchisees’ locations. These fees are earned as 
franchisees develop and open bars in accordance with the related development schedule. Development 
fees collected and unearned were $175 and $300 for the year ended December 26, 2021 and the period 
ended December 27, 2020, respectively. Based on the development schedule, $25 and $200 were 
expected to be earned within one year and have been classified as current on the consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020, respectively. 
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Deferred Financing Fees 

Deferred financing fees are amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining life of the debt 
as a component of interest expense. During 2020, the Company incurred $357 in costs in connection with 
obtaining financing. Interest expense related to total deferred financing fees was $95 for the year ended 
December 26, 2021, and $56 for the period ended December 27, 2020. Deferred financing fees are included 
as a reduction of debt within long-term obligations on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Deferred Rent 

Deferred rent represents the difference between the cash rental payments on operating leases and the 
straight-line rental payments and the amortization of tenant allowances for leasehold improvements 
calculated over the term of each operating lease. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenues, as presented on the consolidated statements of operations, represent food and beverage 
products sold and are presented net of discounts, coupons, and promotions. Revenue from bar sales is 
recognized when food and beverage products are sold. Deferred franchise revenue is recognized upon the 
opening of the franchised bar when all material obligations and initial services to be provided by the 
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, BLH Franchises Restaurants, LLC, have been performed. Franchise 
area development fee revenues are dependent upon the number of bars in each territory and are 
recognized as franchisees develop and open bars in accordance with the related development schedule. 
Royalties are accrued as earned and are calculated each period based on the franchisees underlying bar 
sales. Cash received from the sale of gift cards is deferred and recognized upon redemption. 

Food and Beverage 

Food and beverage include the cost of food and beverage, and includes inventories, warehousing, and 
related purchasing and distribution. Vendor allowances received in connection with the purchase of a 
vendor's products are recognized as a reduction of the related food and beverage costs as earned. Vendor 
agreements are generally for a period of one year or more and payments received are initially recorded as 
accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Gift Cards 

Revenues from the sale of gift cards are deferred and recognized when redeemed by the holder. Deferred 
gift card revenue is included within accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company 
did not recognize any gift card breakage revenue during the year ended December 26, 2021 or the period 
ended December 27, 2020. 

Marketing Expenses 

Marketing costs are expensed as incurred when the advertising takes place. Marketing expenses for the 
year ended December 26, 2021 were $5,660 and for the period ended December 27, 2020 were $2,721.  

Pre-Opening Costs 

New store opening costs incurred with the opening of new bars are expensed as incurred. These costs 
include manager salaries, relocation costs, supplies, recruiting expenses, employee payroll, training costs 
(including accommodations for training team members) and public relations and marketing to support the 
opening of a Bar Louie including launch campaign costs or initial opening promotions and events. 
Pre-opening costs also include occupancy costs recorded during the period between date of possession 
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and the bar opening date. The Company did not open any new locations during the year ended 
December 26, 2021 or the period ended December 27, 2020. 

Income Taxes 

The Company files Form 1065, U.S. Partnership Return of Income, which is due on or before April 15 of 
each year, unless extended. All income or loss of the Company is passed through to the members. The 
members report their respective percentage of any income or loss on their respective federal income tax or 
information returns. The Company does pay franchise taxes, which are included in general and 
administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

U.S. GAAP requires company management to evaluate tax positions taken by the Company and recognize 
a tax liability (or asset) if the Company has taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not 
be sustained upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company’s management has 
analyzed the tax positions taken by the Company and has concluded that as of December 26, 2021, and 
December 27, 2020, there are no uncertain positions taken or expected to be taken that would require 
recognition as a liability (or asset) or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. The Company is 
subject to routine examinations by taxing authorities; however, there are currently no examinations for any 
tax periods in progress. The Company’s policy is to recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax 
benefits in interest expense and any penalties in general and administrative expenses. The Company’s 
management believes they are not subject to income tax examinations for any years prior to 2020. 

The Company has not recognized any penalty, interest or tax impact related to uncertain tax positions as 
of and for the year ended December 26, 2021 and the period ended December 27, 2020. 

Sales Tax Liability 

Sales taxes are imposed by state, county, and city governmental authorities, collected from customers, and 
remitted to the appropriate taxing authorities. The Company’s accounting policy is to record the sales taxes 
collected as accrued liabilities and then remove the liabilities when the sales taxes are remitted. Revenues 
are recorded net of sales tax, so there is no impact on the consolidated statements of operations for sales 
taxes. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or price paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Authoritative guidance for 
fair value measurements establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation models based upon 
the degree to which they are observable. The three levels of the fair value measurement hierarchy are as 
follows: 

Level 1 -  Inputs represent quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the 
measurement date; 

Level 2 -  Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) that are either directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement 
date for the duration of the instrument's anticipated life; and 

Level 3 -  Inputs are unobservable and, therefore, reflect Management’s best estimate of the 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

Bar Louie - 2023 FDD (203)



The Company estimates the fair value of its assets and liabilities, which qualify as financial instruments, 
and includes this additional information in the notes to consolidated financial statements when the fair value 
is different from the carrying value of these instruments. The estimated fair value of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate 
their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long-term 
debt is determined by Level 2 inputs, using applicable rates for similar instruments and collateral as of the 
consolidated balance sheet date and approximates $60,000 and $52,000 as of December 26, 2021, and 
December 27, 2020, respectively.  

Concentration of Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash. 
The Company maintains cash in bank accounts, which exceed federally insured amounts. Management 
evaluates the financial condition of the institution and has not incurred a loss and does not anticipate any 
future losses. 

The Company relies on a few distributors for the majority of its non-alcoholic beverage and grocery 
purchases. However, the products purchased through the distributors are widely available at similar prices 
from multiple distributors. The Company does not anticipate any risk to the business in the event that these 
distributors are no longer available to provide their goods and services. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which will replace Topic 840, Leases, and is 
intended to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and 
lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The 
update is effective using a modified retrospective approach for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on the 
consolidated financial statements but expects that it will result in a significant increase in long-term assets 
and liabilities given the significant number of leases which are not reflected on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets under current U.S. GAAP. 

NOTE 3 - ACQUISITION OF BL RESTAURANT OPERATIONS 

The Company acquired the assets of 50 locations from BL Restaurant Operations, in a stalking horse bid 
on May 27, 2020 for a purchase price of $82,500. Total financing included cash from operations of $1,393, 
borrowings of $45,000 and assignment of paid in capital of $29,218. 
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The allocation of the total purchase price to tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and assumption 
of liabilities was based upon the estimated fair value of those assets as of the closing date. The Company 
allocated the excess of purchase price over the net tangible assets to goodwill. The following table 
summarizes the final allocation, as of May 27, 2020, of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed by major class for the acquisition: 

 
Estimated Fair 

Value Useful Life 
   
Debt-free net working capital $ (4,015)  
Cash 1,393  
Property and equipment, net 40,320 4-9 years 
Favorable (unfavorable) leaseholds 270 3 years 
Deposits 185  
Trade name 15,348 Indefinite 
Franchise agreements 4,899 8 years 
Liquor licenses 2,615 Indefinite 
Goodwill 21,485 10 years 
   

Total $ 82,500  
 
The excess purchase price over the net fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets was $21.5 
million and has been assigned to goodwill. The weighted-average amortization period is eight years for 
franchise agreements and 10 years for goodwill. 

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment by category are comprised of the following as of December 26, 2021 and 
December 27, 2020: 

Asset Category Asset Life 2021 2020 
    

Leasehold improvements 

Lesser of 9 
years or 

remaining 
lease $ 26,194 $ 27,829 

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years 5,919 5,790 
Bar equipment 3-5 years 1,093 985 
Kitchen equipment 3-5 years 5,079 3,841 
Cash registers and computers 2-5 years 1,588 1,099 
Audio visual equipment 3-5 years 212 261 
Buildings under deemed landlord financing 25 years 546 546 
Construction in progress  1,958 470 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (14,932) (5,414) 
    

Property and equipment, net   $ 27,657 $ 35,407 
 
Depreciation expense was $10,853 and $5,502 for the fiscal years ended December 26, 2021 and 
December 27, 2020, respectively, and is included within depreciation and amortization on the consolidated 
statements of operations. 
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The Company determined it was the accounting owner of one leased building as a result of the application 
of build-to-suit lease accounting as of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020. These amounts are 
included within buildings under deemed landlord financing in the table above. 

NOTE 5 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s goodwill as of 
December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020: 

 2021 2020 
   
Beginning balance $ 20,226 $ 21,485 
Amortization (2,141) (1,259) 
   

Ending balance $ 18,085 $ 20,226 
 
Identifiable intangible assets that are separable and have determinable useful lives are valued separately 
and amortized over their benefit period. 

Other intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 27, 2021: 

 Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Purchase of 
Domain Name Net Amount 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets     
Trade names and 

trademarks $ 15,348 $ - $ 7 $ 15,355 
Liquor licenses 2,271 - - 2,271 

     
 $ 17,619 $ - $ 7 $ 17,626 
     
Definite-lived intangible 

assets     
Franchise agreements $ 4,899 $ 969 $ - $ 3,930 
Favorable lease 

agreements 270 143 - 127 
     
 5,169 1,112 - 4,057 
     

Total other 
intangible assets $ 22,788 $ 1,112 $ 7 $ 21,683 
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Other intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 27, 2020: 

 Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Net Amount 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets    
Trade names and trademarks $ 15,348 $ - $ 15,348 
Liquor licenses 2,271 - 2,271 

    
 $ 17,619 $ - $ 17,619 
    
Definite-lived intangible assets    

Franchise agreements $ 4,899 $ 359 $ 4,540 
Favorable lease agreements 270 53 217 

    
 5,169 412 4,757 
    

Total other intangible assets $ 22,788 $ 412 $ 22,376 
 
As of December 26, 2021, the useful life of trade names and trademarks and liquor licenses are indefinite, 
8 years for franchise agreements and 3 years for favorable lease agreements. Amortization expense for 
intangible assets was $700 and $412 for the year ended December 26, 2021 and the period ended 
December 27, 2020, respectively, and is included within depreciation and amortization on the consolidated 
statements of operations. There were no liquor license impairments for the periods ended December 26, 
2021 and December 27, 2020. 

Amortization expense of these intangible assets over the next five fiscal years is expected to be the 
following: 

 

Aggregate 
Amortization 

Expense 
  
2022 $ 700 
2023 660 
2024 610 
2025 610 
2026 610 
  
 $ 3,190 

 
Select states require the ownership of liquor licenses in order to sell alcoholic beverages in a restaurant 
retail environment. The Company purchased no liquor licenses in 2021 or 2020. 
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NOTE 6 - ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

Accrued liabilities are comprised of the following as of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020: 

 2021 2020 
   
Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 2,327 $ 1,217 
Deferred rent 1,380 1,265 
Sales, use and property taxes payable 1,313 1,184 
Accrued interest 1,068 251 
Assumed cure obligations 15 1,299 
Accrued rent 552 1,072 
Gift card liability 290 146 
Accrued utilities 300 356 
Other 1,621 1,085 
   

Accrued liabilities $ 8,866 $ 7,875 

NOTE 7 - DEBT 

Credit Facility 

The following tables summarize the Company’s credit facility as of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 
2020: 

Issuance Maturity Date Rate 

2021 
Original 
Principal 

Carrying 
Amount 

     
Term loan A April 30, 2024 7.50% $ 23,927 $ 24,583 
Term loan B April 30, 2024 8.00% 21,073 21,962 
Revolving credit facility April 30, 2024 7.50%  7,500 
Less current portion    (2,600) 
     

Subtotal 51,445 
  
Unamortized debt issuance costs (205) 
     
Long-term credit facility, less current maturities $ 51,240 
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Issuance Maturity Date Rate 

2020 
Original 
Principal 

Carrying 
Amount 

     
Term loan A April 30, 2024 7.50% $ 23,927 $ 24,913 
Term loan B April 30, 2024 8.00% 21,073 21,999 
Revolving credit facility April 30, 2024 7.50%  6,807 
Less current portion    (1,250) 
     

Subtotal 52,469 
     
Unamortized debt issuance costs (301) 
     
Long-term credit facility, less current maturities $ 52,168 

 
The credit facility, bears interest at a rate equal to (i) a Base Rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 
applicable margin rate of 5.00% for Term A loans or revolving loans and 5.50% for Term B loans (ii) the 
greater of London Interbank Offered Rate or 1.5%, plus applicable margin rate of 6.00% for Term A loans 
or revolving loans and 6.50% for Term B loans. Substantially all assets of the Company are pledged as 
collateral. 

The Company is required to meet certain financial covenants included in the credit facility amendment with 
respect to leverage ratios, fixed charge ratios, and capital expenditures, as well as other customary 
affirmative and negative covenants. As of December 26, 2021, and December 27, 2020, the Company was 
in compliance with its financial covenants associated with the debt under the credit facility.  

As of December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020 the Company utilized $0 for letters of credit, leaving 
$2,500 available to use under the revolving credit facility. Fees on the letters of credit are payable monthly 
at a rate of 6.00% per annum. The Company pays a facility fee of .50% for unused line of credit balances. 

Principal amounts on the term loans are paid quarterly in installments as set forth in the credit agreement. 
The aggregate outstanding balances of the term loans and the revolver become due on April 30, 2024. 

PPP Loan 

On March 24, 2021, BLH Acquisition Co., LLC (the “Borrower”), a subsidiary of BLH Topco, LLC (the 
“Company”), was granted a loan (the “Loan”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. in the aggregate amount 
of $10,000, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under Division A, Title I of the CARES 
Act, which was enacted March 27, 2020, and expanded on December 21, 2020 under the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act of 2021. 

The Loan matures on March 24, 2026, and bears interest at a rate of 0.98% per annum, payable monthly 
commencing on August 8, 2022. The Loan may be prepaid by the Borrower at any time prior to maturity 
with no prepayment penalties. Funds from the Loan may only be used for payroll costs, costs used to 
continue group health care benefits, mortgage payments, rent, and utilities. The Company has used the 
entire amount of the loan for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act.  Management has made 
application for forgiveness of the loan and expects the original principal amount, and all accrued interest 
will be fully forgiven. 
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Capital Lease Obligations 

 2021 2020 
   
Capital lease obligations $ 162 $ - 
Less current portion of capital lease obligations (35) - 
   

Capital lease obligations, less current maturities $ 127 $ - 
 
Maturities of debt over each of the following five years are as follows: 

2022 $ 3,797 
2023 5,423 
2024 51,671 
2025 2,829 
2026 487 
  

Total $ 64,207 

NOTE 8 - RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company has a credit agreement with Antares Capital LP, as agent for all lenders which are the 
majority owners of the Company. As such, the Company routinely makes payments to Antares Capital LP. 
The Company made interest and fee payments of $3,475 and $212 during the year ended December 26, 
2021 and the period ended December 27, 2020, respectively. The Company made $1,407 in principal 
payments during the year ended December 26, 2021, and no principal payments during the period ended 
December 27, 2020. 

The Company is advised by an independent Board of Directors consisting of five Board members. The 
Board consists of four independent advisors and the Company’s CEO. The Company issues quarterly 
payments for Board Member fees to the four independent advisors. The Company made payments of $222 
and $74 to Board Members during the periods ended December 26, 2021 and December 27, 2020, 
respectively. 

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

The Company has a defined contribution benefit plan in accordance with section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code (“401(k) Plan”) that is open to employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. The 
401(k) Plan allows employees to defer the receipt of a portion of their compensation and contribute such 
amount to one or more investment options. The Company pays certain administrative expenses incurred 
by the 401(k) Plan, including recordkeeping, Trustee, and audit fees.  Expenses recognized in 2021 were 
$55 and in 2020 were $12. 
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NOTE 10 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

The following table details supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities 
for the year ended December 26, 2021 and for the period ended December 27, 2020: 

 2021 2020 
Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing and 

financing activities:   
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities $ 274 $ 26 
Capital lease additions 171 - 

   
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:   

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest $ 3,314 $ 133 
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 2 - 

NOTE 11 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Lease Commitments 

The Company leases a corporate office and building space in various locations for bar operations under 
long-term operating leases. Many leases contain rent escalation clauses, contingent rent provisions, rent 
holidays and/or tenant improvement allowances. The leases generally require payment of common area 
maintenance charges (“CAM”), property taxes, insurance, and various other use and occupancy costs by 
the Company. The operating leases expire at various dates through 2029 and typically contain renewal 
options of 5-10 years. 

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases, including amounts characterized as deemed 
landlord financing payments, with initial or remaining non-cancellable lease terms in excess of one year, 
and capital leases as of December 26, 2021, are as follows: 

Year 
Operating 

Leases Capital Leases 
   
2022 $ 12,052 $ 48 
2023 10,863 42 
2024 9,197 41 
2025 7,595 41 
2026 5,550 22 
Thereafter 5,374 - 
   

Total minimum lease payments $ 50,629 194 
   
Less imputed interest  (32) 
Present value of minimum lease payments  162 
   
Less current portion  (35) 
   

Long-term capital lease obligations  $ 127 
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Total rent expense excluding real estate taxes, CAM, insurance, and deferred lease incentives for all 
operating leases for the year ended December 26, 2021 and for the period ended December 27, 2020, are 
as follows: 

 2021 2020 
   
Fixed minimum rentals $ 10,932 $ 5,530 
Percentage rent 891 451 
   

Total rent expense $ 11,823 $ 5,981 
 
The Company is subject to certain existing lease agreements which were deemed to be favorable or 
unfavorable when compared to current market rates. As a result, the Company has recorded corresponding 
assets to account for the favorable and unfavorable leases, which are included within other intangible 
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company is amortizing the assets and liabilities over three 
years which is deemed to be the average remaining term of the operating lease contracts. Total 
amortization adjustment of these leases during the year ended December 26, 2021 and the period ended 
December 27, 2020, was $90 and $53, respectively, and is included within depreciation and amortization 
on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Franchise Agreements 

The Company enters into franchise agreements that require the franchisee to remit ongoing royalty and 
marketing fees based on a percentage of the franchisee's sales revenue and the Company, as franchisor, 
to provide brand specific information including food and beverage requirements, supplier 
recommendations, marketing materials, operations manuals and licenses to certain franchise intellectual 
property. 

Legal Matters 

Within the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to private lawsuits, government audits, 
administrative proceedings and other claims. These matters typically involve claims from guests, 
employees and others related to operational and employment issues common to the foodservice industry. 
These claims may exist at any given time.  The Company does not believe that any claim will have a 
material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations. 

NOTE 12 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 25, 2022, the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
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.

Please keep this page for your records 
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.

Please sign, date, and return this page to us at 
BLH Restaurant Franchises LLC 

The Colonnade, 15305 Dallas Pkwy – 12th Floor, TX 75001 
or at FDDReceipts@BarLouie.com 
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